Public Document Pack

NOTICE OF MEETING
CABINET MEMBER FOR PLANNING, REGENERATION & ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT
TUESDAY, 21 NOVEMBER 2017 AT 1.00 PM
THE EXECUTIVE MEETING ROOM - THIRD FLOOR, THE GUILDHALL
Telephone enquiries to Vicki Plytas 02392 834058
Email: vicki.plytas@portsmouthcc.gov.uk
If any member of the public wishing to attend the meeting has access requirements, please
notify the contact named above.
CABINET MEMBER FOR PLANNING, REGENERATION & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
Decision maker Councillor Donna Jones (Conservative) Leader of the Council with responsibilities for PRED
Group Spokespersons
Councillor Yahiya Chowdhury, Labour
Councillor Ben Dowling, Liberal Democrat
Councillor Colin Galloway, UK Independence Party

(NB

This Agenda should be retained for future reference with the minutes of this meeting.)

Please note that the agenda, minutes and non-exempt reports are available to view online on
the Portsmouth City Council website: www.portsmouth.gov.uk
Deputations by members of the public may be made on any item where a decision is
going to be taken. The request should be made in writing to the contact officer (above) by
12 noon of the working day before the meeting, and must include the purpose of the
deputation (for example, for or against the recommendation/s). Email requests are
accepted.
AGENDA
1

Declarations of Members' Interests

2

Apologies for Absence

3

Houses in Multiple Occupation - Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD) (Pages 5 - 60)

1

The purpose of this report is to report the responses to the recent consultation
on proposed amendments to the Supplementary Planning Document (SPD):
Houses in multiple occupation (HMOs): ensuring mixed and balanced
communities 2017: consider whether further amendment should be consulted
on and to seek authority to adopt the amended SPD.
RECOMMENDATIONS
It is recommended that:
1. The SPD: Houses in Multiple Occupation 2017 be approved
for adoption from immediate effect including the minor
amendments to the wording of Para 1.17,1.22 and 1.24 as
set out in the report.
2. The Assistant Director City Development be authorised to
make editorial amendments to the wording of the amended
SPD prior to publication, in consultation with the Leader
with responsibility for Planning, Regeneration and
Economic Development. These amendments shall be
restricted to correcting errors and formatting text and shall
not alter the meaning of the document.

3. The amended SPD is adopted but a public consultation is
approved for the suggested addition to cover the issue of
sandwiching and three in a row. Authority is sought to carry
out a 6 week consultation starting as soon as is practically
possible to add the following wording to the Adopted SPD
2017

HMO planning permission will not be granted where it would result in any
residential property (C3 use) being ‘sandwiched’ between two HMOs or where it
would result in three adjacent HMOs, unless the application property is located
between two existing HMOs

4

Portsmouth International Port: Port Marine Safety Code Audit, Harbour
Incidents and Traffic Throughput (Pages 61 - 72)
The purpose of the report is to provide information about:




5

Members duties as the Duty Holders for the Port under the updated
Port Marine Safety Code;
The Port Marine Safety Code Audit at Portsmouth International Port;
Incidents in the Harbour; and Traffic throughput

MMD (Shipping Services) Ltd and Portsmouth International Port Trading
Results and Capital Outturn Report 2016/17 (Pages 73 - 78)
2

The purpose of this report (which is for information only) is to highlight the
salient points for both the trading results of MMD (Shipping Services) Ltd and
Portsmouth International Port for the year ending 31 March 2017, and their
capital programmes.

Members of the public are permitted to use both audio visual recording devices and social media
during this meeting, on the understanding that it neither disrupts the meeting nor records those
stating explicitly that they do not wish to be recorded. Guidance on the use of devices at
meetings open to the public is available on the Council's website and posters on the wall of the
meeting's venue.
Whilst every effort will be made to webcast this meeting, should technical or other difficulties
occur, the meeting will continue without being webcast via the Council's website.
This meeting is webcast (videoed), viewable via the Council's livestream account at
https://livestream.com/accounts/14063785

3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

Title of meeting:

Leader with responsibility for Planning, Regeneration and
Economic Development

Date of meeting:

21 November 2017

Subject:

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) – Draft Supplementary
Planning Document

Report by:

Claire Upton-Brown, Assistant Director City Development

Wards affected:

ALL

Key decision:

Yes/No

Full Council decision:

Yes/No

1.0

Purpose of report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to report the responses to the recent consultation
on proposed amendments to the Supplementary Planning Document (SPD):
Houses in multiple occupation (HMOs): ensuring mixed and balanced
communities 2017: consider whether further amendment should be consulted
on and to seek authority to adopt the amended SPD.

2.0

Recommendations
It is recommended that:
1. The SPD: Houses in Multiple Occupation 2017 be approved for
adoption from immediate effect including the minor amendments to the
wording of Para 1.17,1.22 and 1.24 as set out in the report.
2. The Assistant Director City Development be authorised to make
editorial amendments to the wording of the amended SPD prior to
publication, in consultation with the Leader with responsibility for
Planning, Regeneration and Economic Development. These
amendments shall be restricted to correcting errors and formatting text
and shall not alter the meaning of the document.
3. The amended SPD is adopted but a public consultation is approved for
the suggested addition to cover the issue of sandwiching and three in a
row. Authority is sought to carry out a 6 week consultation starting as
soon as is practically possible to add the following wording to the
Adopted SPD 2017

1 5
Page

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

HMO planning permission will not be granted where it would result in
any residential property (C3 use) being ‘sandwiched’ between two
HMOs or where it would result in three adjacent HMOs, unless the
application property is located between two existing HMOs

3.0

Background

3.1

Policy PCS20 (HMOs: Ensuring mixed and balanced communities) of the
Portsmouth Plan is the key local planning policy against which applications for
HMO use in the city are assessed. Where there is to be a material change of
use to either a Class C4 HMO (between three and six unrelated people sharing
amenities) or to an HMO in sui generis use (seven or more people sharing
amenities), planning permission will be required.

3.2

This includes the need for planning permission where there is a material change
of use from a Class C3 (dwellinghouse) to a Class C4 HMO. The reason why
planning permission is required is that on 1st November 2011, a city wide Article
4 Direction came into force in the city which removed permitted development
rights for such changes.

3.3

The SPD, adopted in 2012, set out how Policy PCS20 was to be implemented
and explained how the city council applied this policy to planning decisions for
HMO use whether falling within Class C4 or amounting to a sui generis use. No
differentiation was made between Class C4 and sui generis HMOSs. It is
proposed to address this and other issues within the proposed SPD and thereby
affect how current and future applications for sui generis HMO uses will be
determined.

3.4

At the PRED meeting of the 6th September 2017 delegated authority was given
to the Assistant Direcotor of City Development to carry out a consultation on the
amendments proposed to the SPD. Whilst the dates specified in the report to
PRED on 6th September specified the period 2nd October to 13th November for
the consutlation it was agreed that if it was possible to bring these dates forward
then this should happen. The consultation period was brought forward to
expedite this report. Interested parties were requested to make their views
known either in writing or by email, or by completing an online survey.

4.0

Consultation responses

4.1

The consultation sought views on the proposed amendments, and views on
whether there were any other changes that should be made. 182 individual
responses were received including responses from the Portsmouth & District
Private Landlords Association, the University of Portsmouth and the East St
Thomas Residents Forum that is formed of 120 residents of that area. The
responses from the PDPLA, the University and the East St Thomas Residents
Forum are attached as Appendix A to this report. The report considers the
detailed comments of the PDPLA and the East St Thomas Residents Forum in
the first paragraphs and then detailed the responses on each proposed
2 6
Page

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

amendment. The figures and comments included in the following paragraphs
and Appendix B relate to the 182 responses.

4.2

The Portsmouth and District Private Landlords Association believes that the
changes to the HMO planning regulations are unnecessary and will be counterproductive. The reasons it believes this to be the case are;









These changes will most impact the poorest in our community and
increase homelessness
Changes are not necessary due to falling demand for student
accommodation
Increasing demand for accommodation for single people will not be met
There is a risk that these changes will increase rents and make city
housing less affordable
Changes will delay much needed regeneration
Changes implies that many properties are too small for development yet
all developments meet all necessary standards for space and amenities
and improve what is often tired and dated housing stock
Proponents argue that without these changes parking and rubbish issues
will increase, but there is no evidence to support this
These changes will stop the creation of mixed and balanced communities

It is recognised that some of the suggested amendments would mean there
would be less opportunity for existing C4 HMOs to change to Sui Generis
HMOSs which may result in less bedrooms becoming available for rent in HMO
accommodation. Whilst the setting of rent is a matter that sits outside the
influence of the planning system it could be argued that demand and supply will
be one of the factors that influences rental levels within the city. However it is
not considered that the proposed amendments to the SPD will increase the
levels of homelessness within the city. As the PDPLA recognises factors such
as the change in the tax position on mortgage interest relief will have a more
significant impact in influencing landlords decisions on whether to continue to
play an active role in the residential rental market of the city.
The PDPLA has made a detailed point relating to the falling demand for student
accommodation. It concludes that concerns about students living in the
community will diminish as student choice of accommodation increases in the
city. The planning system does not control who the end users of HMO are
however it is reasonable to assume that some of the HMOs in the city currently
occupied by students may in the future be occupied by non-students.
The further points made by the PDPLA relate to its consideration of whether
landlords will choose to invest in improving properties and whether with the
space standards some properties will not have sufficient space to be capable of
being converted to a HMO. I cannot conclude that the proposed changes to the
SPD would serve as a disincentive to landlords to invest in their properties.
However it is acknowledged that there are dwellings in the city that are of a size
which may prevent them being used as HMO accommodation in the future.
3 7
Page

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

4.6

A detailed response has been received from East St Thomas Residents Forum
its response is detailed below together with my comments on each response.
Whilst it warmly welcomes the amendments to the SPD it has made comments
as follows :
Amenity Space standards - it comments that as many sui generis applications
involve simply converting the living room of a property into an additional
bedroom, it would like the draft to include confirmation of the principles stated in
PCC’s Private Sector Housing ‘Standards for Houses in Multiple Occupancy
(2014)’ on the need for enhanced bedroom space where communal areas are
removed, and suggest the following modified text:
“Where properties do not have separate communal space that is not a kitchendiner-living area, the minimum floor area of all single occupancy bedrooms must
be 10 sq. metres.
PCC’s Housing Standards document “Standards for Houses in Multiple
Occupancy (2014)” provides details of the facilities that must be provided in
HMOs, including bathroom and kitchen facilities, based on the number of
occupants. The drawings and documentation accompanying HMO planning
applications must demonstrate that these requirements will be met.
The wording in the amended SPD states that planning permission will be
refused if the applicant fails to provide adequate amenity space, to provide the
quality living environment and deliver the Council's vision for the city. It is not
considered appropriate to have HMO accommodation where there is no
communal living space, the suggested amended wording from the Forum would
support proposals to change to HMOs that provide no communal space. The
wording suggested by the Residents Forum would lead to a more relaxed
position from the amendment consulted on and for this reason I would not
recommend that the wording be changed.
Having reviewed the proposed amendment at Para 1.17 I will recommend that
the description of the details required in the submission of the application is
further detailed to include a full set of plans that include details of the bathroom
sanity ware and kitchen fitments and white goods. Given the nature of this
amendment I do not consider that there is a need to carry out further
consultation on this minor point. To require these changes the Local Validation
list will have to be amended, this has to be consulted on.

Amenity of neighbours and local occupiers (1.22)
The Residents Forum is extremely pleased with the proposed amendment but
would like to be sure that this principle equally applies to sui generis applications
and suggests that sui generis is added to the wording at Para 1.22. I consider
this to be a logical clarification and would recommend that this minor
amendment is made without further consultation .

4 8
Page

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

Identifying properties in HMO use (Section 1.23)
The Forum is pleased that when calculating the percentage of HMOs within
the 50m radius all HMOs with planning permission are included in the count,
whether they are in HMO use at the time of the application or not. However it
would also like “section 257” HMOs included to ensure clarity and robustness
as they are, to all intents and purposes, HMOs by another name and impact
equally on the HMO load on a neighbourhood. It therefore suggests the
wording is amended to read:
“1.24 When identifying the number of HMOs in the area surrounding the application
property, the city council will include:
- All properties continuously in HMO use since 1 November 2011
- All properties with Class C4 HMO planning permission
- All properties with sui generis HMO planning permission
- All properties with planning permission for mixed C3/C4 use (regardless of
whether they are in C3 or C4 use at the time of the application).
- All Section 257 Houses in Multiple Occupation properties”
The suggested amendment adds the words 'continuously in use' for properties that
were HMOs at November 2011, adds with planning permission to C4 use and
suggests adding reference to Section 257 of the Housing Act as a further
amendment. I could not support the suggestion that continuously uses is added as
the only way that 'continuous use' of any property that fell into that category could
be confirmed would be through an application for a Certificate of Lawful
Development on any HMO that existed at November 2011. In practice this would
mean that once the list of HMOs within 50m radius had captured the Council would
then need to identify all the ones with had been in use at November 2011. It would
then have to approach all the owners of these HMOs and request they submitted
applications for Certificates of Lawfulness even if all these owners were willing to
submit applications it could take months for these applications to be put together
and considered .In the absence of an application the Council could not just accept
continuous use as this would prejudice any later consideration of the matter. If such
an approach were taken it is highly likely that all applications would end up being
the subject of appeals against non-determination with the Inspectorate taking a
negative position on the reasonableness and effectiveness of the Council.
With regard to the suggested addition of the reference to Section 257 of the
Housing Act, the SPD is a planning document to be used for inform the
consideration of planning applications, the definition of a HMO is clearly defined in
the Planning Act and there is no planning reason to make reference to the Housing
Act at this point. Within paragraph 1.3 and Appendix 1 there is the correct cross
reference to the relevant Sections of the Housing Act I am not recommending that
there is further amendment as suggested.
Establishing the existing lawful use of a property (1.27)
With reference to “grandfathered” HMOs (HMOs that were registered as existing at
November 2011) the Forum would like more robust language and suggest the
5 9
Page

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

addition of the word unambiguous evidence rather than just evidence. The planning
and legal test for an application for a Certificate of Lawfulness is whether the
evidence suggests on the 'balance of probability' and therefore the suggested word
goes beyond the Planning Act and could not be supported.
Additional concepts that the East St Thomas Residents Forum have suggested
The Residents Forum would also like restrictions included with regard to the
concepts of “sandwiching” and “3 in a row” HMOs with an additional section in
the SPD to read:
“
HMO planning permission will not be granted where it would result in any
residential property (C3 use) being ‘sandwiched’ between two HMOs or where it
would result in three adjacent HMOs, unless the application property is located
between two existing HMOs **”.
.
This suggested additional control would address the balance of a community
within a smaller area within the 50m radius. Consideration was given to
introducing this further measure when the SPD was originally drafted, the
decision was made not to add this further layer of definition. However there are
occasions where properties may end up being sandwiched.
This is not an amendment that should be made without consultation to do so
would run the risk that if relied upon as a reason for refusal at appeal an
Inspector may conclude that this element of the SPD is given little weight
because it had not been the result of a consultation rather than the subject of a
consultation.
The Forum has commented that the dual requirement to apply for planning
permission and a licence before a new HMO can be occupied, is confusing and
lacks clarity. It comments that both the Council’s and landlords’ resources are
wasted under the current arrangement and suggests the following additional
wording:
“In addition to the need for planning permission, those wishing to establish an HMO
need to obtain a HMO licence in accordance with the Housing Act (2004).
An HMO licence will not be granted until planning permission for the HMO / sui
generis development has been granted by Portsmouth City Planning Department.
Landlords are also encouraged to join the city council’s Landlord Accreditation Scheme
(LAS)”.
The wording of the SPD can not be altered in this way as the Council has to deal with the
Licence and the planning separately.

Rebalancing Communities

Page6 10
www.portsmouth.gov.uk

The Forum comments that the draft SPD refers to the Portsmouth Plan’s projection
of an increase in the number of people who will require larger, family sized
properties in the future (Section 1.9) and PCC’s stated aim ‘to avoid high
concentrations of HMOs in the city, and to ensure the future provision of mixed and
balanced communities’ (Section 1.10).
It comments that the East St Thomas area already several times above the HMO
threshold recognised as being sustainable, and feels that some mechanisms (within
or outside the revised SPD20) to encourage rebalancing of the local community is
essential.
It states that it understands that Portsmouth City Council is the only UK council that
permits dual C3/C4 planning applications for properties. The revised SPD drafting
indicated that at the 10 year anniversary of the C3/C4 planning approval, the
property’s status would revert to either C3 or C4, depending on its use at that time.
It is the view of the Forum that this effectively provides maximum flexibility for
landlords in allowing them to flip between uses with little protection for tenants, the
crucially point coming at 10 years from the date of planning permission, allowing
them to preserve their potentially more lucrative C4 status. The Forum believe that
if market conditions had encouraged the landlord to use the property as a family
home in year 9, the current system would financially encourage them to evict the
family tenants and return the property to HMO use in year 10.
The Forum would like PCC to return to the standard national framework of assigning
planning approval for C3 or C4 rather than dual C3/C4 use. This would then eliminate the
current practise which acts as a barrier preventing the return of housing stock back
towards family use.
The Council has taken the position that the grant of planning permissions
enable landlords to change from C4 to C3 without the need for a further
permission which helps ensure that properties are being fully occupied and
simplifying the situation should a landlord choose to rent a HMO for a temporary
period to a family (for example over the summer months) without having to
apply for permission and then apply again to change is back to a C4 use.
The grant of flexible permission is seen to be a way of discouraging the under
use of properties and potentially avoiding situations where there are empty
properties for extended periods of time, this is meeting a number of planning
objectives. The Council can not prevent the submission of applications for a
flexible C3/C4 use, it is then a planning judgement whether permission should
be granted. Whilst the comments of the Forum around the uniqueness of
Portsmouth's receiving and determining such applications are noted such
applications are valid and the Council could not through an SPD stop applicants
submitting applications in this form.
Summary of other responses to the consultation

7 11
Page

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

In relation to the section on 'Living conditions/quality of living environment' there
were 59 responses of which 39% were in agreement to the proposed
amendment and 8% disagreed. Of the remainder some misconstrued the
purpose of the section with considerable variation in comments ranging from the
desire of respondents wishing to see a reduction in the number of existing
HMOs and retention of family homes, thereby addressing overcrowding and
parking issues, to having less over-powering high-rise buildings and making
landlords responsible for removing rubbish and controlling noise. A few suggest
the standards should be more strict or demanding, particularly in relation to fire
and health and safety, or be realigned with Licensing while other issues refer to
ensuring tenants themselves, who have no personal attachment to the area,
are made responsible and the desire to prevent "student ghettos" and make
HMO accommodation more attractive to young professionals.
4.3

The second question referred to the application of bedroom standards in line
with the Nationally Described Space Standards. Of the 57 responses 44% were
in agreement and 17% disagreed. Of those who disagreed or made comment it
was considered the standards should be increased. Others commented that the
standards used across planning and licensing regimes should be identical,
while landlords should not be allowed to use every room [except the kitchen and
bathroom] within a house as a bedroom. It is also suggested that full permission
should be required for the upgrading of any Class C4 use by increasing the
number of bedrooms. Furthermore, kitchens should not be allowed next to
bedrooms in the adjoining property.

4.4

There were 39 responses to the next section on 'Amenity of neighbours and
local occupiers' which also includes sub-sections on how HMO's are identified
and the proportion of HMOs within a particular area are calculated. Only 28%
expressed agreement with the provisions of this section and 5% disagreed.
The remainder raised wide ranging issues from the need to prevent landlords
extending properties, solely to increase the number of lettable rooms, to a
desire to see the existing number of HMOs reduced, and increasing the 50m
radius, reducing the 10% threshold to 5% or imposing a cap on the number of
HMOs in a road. Some respondents comment that demand for parking is less
within HMOs while others take a contrary view. Some raise issues around
mental health, drug dealing, the storage of refuse and behaviour indicating a
lack of social responsibility by tenants, while the issue of students being exempt
from Council Tax was also raised.

4.5

The fourth question related to the section 'Other issues to be considered' and
generated 39 comments. This section covered the licensing regime and the
Landlord Accreditation Scheme. Only 13% of respondents agreed with that part
of the document. However, the common themes of concern relate to the control
of parking, noise and disturbance, and refuse storage. Some respondents
expressed the view that licensing should apply to all HMOs across the city and
contradictions between two separate departments should be resolved. It is also
suggested that the 50m radius and 10% threshold is reviewed.

Page8 12
www.portsmouth.gov.uk

4.6

Having sought responses on the various sections within the draft SPD the final
question asked respondents 'are there any other changes you would like to see
in the final amendments?'. There were 38 replies and whilst only 4 believed no
other changes were necessary, the common themes amongst the remainder
included; (i) the need to exercise greater control or completely overhaul the
system of control, (ii) restriction of parking permits, (iii) reduce the proportion of
HMO's to undo concentrations, (iv) the introduction of stringent financial
penalties, (v) there should be one contactable person to deal with problems as
they arise rather than multiple agencies, (vi) properties accepted for a HMO
licence should automatically have a C4 planning use, (vii) consideration should
be given to 'trapped' family houses in areas of high concentration of HMOs, and
(viii) impact on the loss of family homes.

5.0

Reasons for recommendations

5.1

The reasons for the recommendation in relation to the comments received from
the Portsmouth and District Property Landlords Association and the East St
Thomas Residents Forum have been set out in the above sections. The
response to the public consultation exercise is evidence of the broad scope of
interested parties. On the one hand those involved in letting HMOs would
prefer to see either no changes to the current system of control or a realignment between the planning and licensing regimes ensuring a consistent
approach to the application of standards. In contrast local residents who have
been affected by the proliferation of HMOs seek greater levels of control,
including where landlords enlarge properties to increase the level of occupation,
and a reduction in their number where concentrations are greatest.

5.2

It is recognised that HMOs can affect the character of an area, potentially
adversely where significant concentrations occur. Unlike the Council's
Licensing regime the Local Planning Authority is able to exercise control over
land use in the public interest. The latter must acknowledge the need for this
type of accommodation and the Council through its planning powers is able to
balance competing interests. It is considered that the current method of
controlling the concentration of HMOs remains reasonable and there is no
justification, anecdotal or otherwise, to alter the application of the current 10%
threshold of properties within a 50m radius as proposed to be retained within
the revised document.

5.3

However, there has been a trend for landlords to extend their properties
(normally by large box dormer roof enlargements) under the provisions of the
General Permitted Development Order in order to increase the level of
occupation beyond six persons. That increase in the level of occupation would
involve a material change of use from a Class C4 HMO to a sui generis HMO by
virtue of a greater level of activity. Cumulatively such a trend would be
considered to adversely affect the living conditions of existing residents,
particularly where the proportion of HMOs already exceeds the 10% threshold.
The introduction of the criteria in para 1.14 of the revised document seeks to
address this issue and introduce a degree of further control in the interests of
amenity and delivering a mixed and balanced community. It would not prevent
9 13
Page

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

the establishment of sui generis HMOs in areas where the 10% threshold is not
exceeded.
5.4

The use of minimum floor space standards for bedrooms is generally supported.
The NDSS for a single bedroom is 7.5sqm compared with 6.5sqm under the
HMO Licencing Standards, and 11.5sqm for a double bedroom compared with
11sqm under the HMO Licencing Standards. Whereas the latter require larger
rooms where no dedicated shared living space is to be provided, the standards
to be adopted make no differentiation. Nonetheless, the NDSS standards will
seek to ensure that the accommodation to be provided meets the needs of its
occupiers and delivers the council's vision for the city.

5.5

It is acknowledged that the issue of car parking and refuse storage is a common
theme in the responses to the survey. However, the issue of parking permits
lies outside of the control of the local planning authority and the consideration of
planning applications is limited to the provisions of the SPD on car parking
standards. As part of applications the landlord will be expected to demonstrate
that adequate storage for refuse and recyclables will be provided. Behavioural
issues concerning the use of those facilities lay outside the remit of the planning
authority

6.0

Equality impact assessment

6.1

A full Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been carried out on the
Portsmouth Plan (Core Strategy), including Policy PCS20: Houses in multiple
occupation: ensuring mixed and balanced communities. This exercise did not
highlight any specific issues relating to equalities groups in the city. As this
supplementary planning document amplifies existing policy, no further EIA is
considered necessary.

7.0

Legal implications

7.1

Preparation of the Council’s supplementary planning documents, including the
process of public consultation, is regulated in accordance with the Town and
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England)Regulations 2012. Publication,
consultation with appropriate stakeholders, and receiving and considering
relevant representations are necessary steps towards adoption, and the report
and recommendation support compliance with the Council’s statutory
obligations as Local Planning Authority.

8.0

Director of Finance's comments

8.1

The purpose of this report is to seek approval to adopt the Supplementary
Planning Document (SPD). No additional resources will be required to carry out
this adoption and therefore there are no financial implications as a result of the
approval of the recommendations of this report.

1014
Page

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

………………………………………………
Signed by:

Appendices:
A - Consultation responses from the Portsmouth & District Private Landlords Association;
the University of Portsmouth and the East St Thomas Residents Forum
B - Online consultation responses

Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972
The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a
material extent by the author in preparing this report:
Title of document
Report to Cabinet Member for Planning,
Regeneration and Economic
Development: Houses in multiple
occupation (HMOs) – 6th September
2017

Location
http://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/ieListDocument
s.aspx?CId=158&MId=3873&Ver=4

Report to Cabinet Member for Planning,
Regeneration and Economic
Development: Houses in multiple
occupation (HMOs) – 22nd September
2010

www.portsmouth.gov.uk/yourcouncil/18922.html

Shared housing in Portsmouth: an
assessment of demand, supply and

Planning Services section of Portsmouth City
Council website
11 15
Page

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

community impacts. Portsmouth City
Council.
Article 4 Direction (Art 4/HMO/01)

www.portsmouth.gov.uk/living/20617.html

Survey responses

tbc

The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/
rejected by ……………………………… on ………………………………

………………………………………………
Signed by:

1216
Page

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

Houses in Multiple Occupation Consultation

#187
COMPLETE
Collector:
Started:
Last Modified:
Time Spent:
IP Address:

Web Link 1 (Web Link)
Thursday, November 02, 2017 2:11:43 PM
Thursday, November 02, 2017 2:21:50 PM
00:10:07
81.98.213.10

Page 2: About you
Q1 What is your first name?
Martin

Q2 What is your last name?
Silman

Q3 Postal Address
none

Q4 Email Address - please provide a valid email address so that we can keep you updated on future
consultations. If you don't have an email address we will write to you at the postal address provided.
none

Q5 Organisation (if applicable)
Portsmouth & District Private Landlords Association

Q6 If you are acting on someone else's' behalf please
add your name, address and organisation name here

Respondent skipped this question

Q7 Gender

Male

Q8 How old are you?

Prefer not to
say

Q9 Do you have a disability?

Prefer not to
say

Q10 Ethnicity – to which of these groups do you
belong?

Prefer not to
say

Page 17

377 / 381

Houses in Multiple Occupation Consultation
Q11 We keep a list of individuals and organisations to
keep informed on planning matters. Please use the
dropdown menu below to state if you want to be
included on the list.

No

Page 3
Q12 Do you agree with the section 'Living conditions / quality of living environment'? What changes do you think
we should make?
Changes imply that many properties are ‘too small’ for development, yet all developments meet all necessary standards for space
and amenities and improve what is often, tired and dated housing stock
Most ‘super HMO’ developments add en-suite facilities to rooms and all meet space and facilities guidelines – so it is disingenuous
for some to argue that these developments are sub-standard or provide anything other than the highest levels of accommodation
available in the city today.

Q13 Do you agree with the section on 'Bedroom space standards'? What changes should we make?
Changes imply that many properties are ‘too small’ for development, yet all developments meet all necessary standards for space
and amenities and improve what is often, tired and dated housing stock
Most ‘super HMO’ developments add en-suite facilities to rooms and all meet space and facilities guidelines – so it is disingenuous
for some to argue that these developments are sub-standard or provide anything other than the highest levels of accommodation
available in the city today.

Page 4
Q14 Do you agree with the section on 'Amenity of neighbours and local occupiers'? What changes do you think
we should make?
5.

Changes will delay much needed regeneration

Most regeneration of existing properties in the city is carried out by landlords in the private rented sector. Restrictions on needed
developments will have an impact which will be to the detriment of the standard of housing across the city.
7.

Proponents argue that without these changes, parking and rubbish issues will increase, but there is no evidence to support this

Most HMO’s are occupied by tenants who have less cars per person than the average family housed in the city – so parking is not
worsened by the addition of an HMO.
Similarly, rubbish issues are more a consequence of the rigid application of illogical rules in certain areas of the city than anything
attributable to residents.
8.

Changes will stop the creation of mixed and balanced communities

1 in 3 people in central Southsea are students (higher if you focus on voting age adults), a mixed and balanced community would
reflect this. Restricting HMO’s to 10% does not create a balanced mix in any way.
Students and other sharers are actually safer living in higher density areas. Crime in the city is worse where student densities are
lower.
Crime and Anti-Social behaviour in Portsmouth

Page 18

378 / 381

Houses in Multiple Occupation Consultation
Crime and Anti-Social behaviour in Portsmouth
The most commonly reported crimes in Portsmouth are:
1. Anti-Social Behaviour
2. Violent Crime
3. Burglary
These are the numbers of HMO’s in the Portsmouth database as of January 2017: Postcode No. of HMO’s Population Density
HMO’s per density
PO1 623 29125 0.02
PO2 202 41644 0.004
PO3 35 19843 0.001
PO4 1000 43251 0.02
PO5 1000 30287 0.03
Clearly post codes PO4 and PO5 have the greatest numbers of HMO’s and the greatest HMO density. If HMO’s are a problem for
the city, then we should expect to find higher levels of crime in areas where the density of HMO’s is greater.
This brief analysis looked at crimes reported in the month of January 2017 dating back to January 2011. The analysis looks at total
crimes, anti-social behaviour and instances of violent crime. The data was gathered from www.ukcrimestats.com.
The area with the highest total crime rates was in postcode PO1 (4978). An area with 400 fewer registered HMO’s when compared
to PO4 (2279) and PO5 (2791).
The area with the highest levels of anti-social behaviour instances was also noted in postcode PO1 (1627). Equally the highest
levels of violent crime were reported in postcode PO1 (747).
Postcode PO2 had 2508 reported instances of crime reported, despite only having 202 registered HMO’s. The area with the lowest
reported crime level was PO3 with 1144 crimes reported. However, it is important to note that the population density for Postcode
PO3 is almost 50% less than PO4 and PO5. Where the residential density is lower, we can expect fewer crimes.
If we take into account the amount of crime numbers per residential population we can see that there are: 0.06 crimes in PO2, 0.05
crimes in PO3, 0.05 crimes in PO4 and 0.09 crimes in PO5. We can see that there is an approximate parity between postcode and
the amount of crimes committed per residential population. The postcode PO1 had the highest crime rate at 0.17 crimes committed
per residential population.
This analysis found no evidence that an increase in the number of HMO’s in an area led to the ‘break down of the social fabric.’ In
reality, it would seem that areas with the highest HMO densities were safer. PO5 only had 371 instances of violent crimes reported,
despite there being 1000 HMO’s. PO2 had 367 instances of violent crimes reported with only 202 HMO’s!

Q15 Do you agree with the section on 'Other Issues to consider'? What changes do you think we should make?
Apart from points 1-4 in our original response, which we consider to be the most important on this subject, we would ask is a mixed
and balanced community what local residents really want?
The aspiration is used as justification for HMO planning controls but is not the reality that people actually want to live where they are
surrounded by their own kind and when young people or poor people move into their district they will dream up all sorts of
objections.
Councilors want to get reelected so they support these objections but is this fair on the population and Councilors in the North of the
city who cannot use planning controls to prevent what they see as an invasion into their community. It is noticeable that an
application for a new HMO in say North End will see a lot more objections than one in Southsea even when taking into account that
HMO residents will not object to more.

Page 19

When considering the distribution of HMOs the most logical location is never considered.

379 / 381

Houses in Multiple Occupation Consultation
When considering the distribution of HMOs the most logical location is never considered.
Waverley Road, for example, has large old houses many converted into HMOs or split into small units long ago. Is it fair on the
owners of the few large single units not yet converted to be prevented from redeveloping them and attaining a fair price relative to
their neighbours? Current restrictions encourage them to remain under occupied and perhaps in a poor condition. We have seen
property boarded up where planning restrictions have made redevelopment unviable.
While examining HMO planning policy we would like to see some consideration being given to the trapped family residence (C3)
surrounded by HMOs and thus have its value held down unfairly and forcing a family to live in a property surrounded by students.
Allowing trapped C3 properties to be converted is in everyone’s best interests and is a better option than creating a new HMO
where few already exist.
1.

These changes will most impact the poorest in our community and increase homelessness

The need for low cost single person accommodation for non-students is lost in the student issue. What about low income single
people who are not students?
There is a significant need for more purpose built or adapted single person accommodation and this is going to worsen as current
planned benefits changes are implemented.
One in five private landlords are now less willing to rent to young people as a result of tax increases being imposed according to
new research: https://research.rla.org.uk/report/landlord-perceptions-of-mortgage-interest-relief/
With half of 16 to 34-year olds now living in the private rented sector, young tenants will be hit hardest by the tax changes as
landlords consider moving out of the long-term rental market.
If we had more HMO’s or purpose-built accommodation:
•
under occupied couple appropriate accommodation (1 bed flats) would be freed up.
•
Increasing availability of 1 bed flats would free up under occupied 2 bed accommodation etc.
•
It would be easier to address the homelessness issue.
•
Residents renting self-contained accommodation (mainly 1 bed flats) could downsize to shared or hostel type
accommodation enabling them to save for a place of their own.
•
Single people could be accommodated locally near their work reducing commuter congestion and parking issues.
2.

Not necessary due to falling demand for student accommodation

The concerns about growing student numbers are unfounded. At present Portsmouth has 23,000 students – that makes it larger
than Oxford or Cambridge and a significant proportion of students are international. Post-Brexit, it is unlikely that the proportion of
international students will grow and by 2020, the numbers of UK students will have flattened due to the smaller UK population of 18
year olds compared to recent years (according to the Office for National Statistics)
These points coupled with the 4-5 thousand new student halls rooms in the city mean that concerns about students ‘living in the
community’ are overstated and likely to diminish.
3.

Increasing demand for accommodation for single people will not be met

From a study by Sheffield Hallam
“The housing crisis is set to worsen for young people already priced out of the property market as growing numbers of landlords
refuse to rent to people under 35, according to research.”
http://www.independent.co.uk/news/business/news/landlords-young-people-renting-turn-away-late-payment-under-age-35-sheffieldhallam-a7871281.html

4.

Risk that changes will increase rents and make city housing even less affordable

If the demand for HMO accommodation is increased, primarily among professionals and the young non-student population and
cannot be met due to changes restricting HMO development, then the reduced supply will feed through into increased rents. This
has a knock-on effect on all rents in the city – if HMO’s are expensive, people group together and look at 1 and 2 bed flats which

Page 20

380 / 381

Houses in Multiple Occupation Consultation
has a knock-on effect on all rents in the city – if HMO’s are expensive, people group together and look at 1 and 2 bed flats which
pushes those rents up. The resultant shortage feeds through as higher rents in those properties and thus for all larger properties
too.
Nationally “room” (in shared accommodation) rents went up twice the national average rent increase (excluding London) between
2016 and 2017. This must be due to supply shortages in turn due in part to increasing planning restrictions. (See note (1) at end for
detail)

Q16 Are there any other changes you would like to see the final amendments?
In addition to all of the above, we would like to see recognition of the fact that we have a city University which is integrated with the
community and if it is to succeed, that integration needs to be encouraged and fostered – not shunned and resisted. Forcing
students into expensive (and often poor quality) halls results in them:
o coming out with higher debts
o missing out on the learning experience of sharing a house
o and struggling to make the transition from child to responsible adult
(1)
Room Rents going up twice the national average
Average monthly room rent (£) Q1 2017 £443
Annual change Q1 2017 vs Q1 2016 (%) 6%(£417)
UK excluding London Annual change Q1 2017 vs Q1 2016 (%) 3%
--------------------Please accept this input to the consultation on the proposed changes to the SPD on PCS20 on behalf of the members of the
Portsmouth & District Private Landlords Association.
Summary
The PDPLA believe the proposed changes to HMO planning regulations are unnecessary and will be counter-productive. The
reasons we believe this to be the case are:
1.
2.
3.

These changes will most impact the poorest in our community and increase homelessness
Changes are not necessary due to falling demand for student accommodation
Increasing demand for accommodation for single people will not be met

4.
There is a risk that these changes will increase rents and make city housing even less affordable
5.
Changes will delay much needed regeneration
6.
Changes imply that many properties are ‘too small’ for development, yet all developments meet all necessary standards for
space and amenities and improve what is often, tired and dated housing stock
7.
Proponents argue that without these changes, parking and rubbish issues will increase, but there is no evidence to support this
8.
These changes will stop the creation of mixed and balanced communities

Page 21

381 / 381

This page is intentionally left blank

Houses in Multiple Occupation Consultation

#185
COMPLETE
Collector:
Started:
Last Modified:
Time Spent:
IP Address:

Web Link 1 (Web Link)
Thursday, November 02, 2017 12:26:17 PM
Thursday, November 02, 2017 12:53:50 PM
00:27:32
81.98.213.10

Page 2: About you
Q1 What is your first name?
Fiona

Q2 What is your last name?
Bell

Q3 Postal Address
Estates and Campus Services, Floor 6 Mercantile House, Hampshire Terrace, P01 2EG

Q4 Email Address - please provide a valid email address so that we can keep you updated on future
consultations. If you don't have an email address we will write to you at the postal address provided.
none

Q5 Organisation (if applicable)
University of Portsmouth

Q6 If you are acting on someone else's' behalf please
add your name, address and organisation name here

Respondent skipped this question

Q7 Gender

Female

Q8 How old are you?

Prefer not to
say

Q9 Do you have a disability?

Prefer not to
say

Q10 Ethnicity – to which of these groups do you
belong?

Prefer not to
say

Page 23

371 / 381

Houses in Multiple Occupation Consultation
Q11 We keep a list of individuals and organisations to
keep informed on planning matters. Please use the
dropdown menu below to state if you want to be
included on the list.

No

Page 3
Q12 Do you agree with the section 'Living conditions / quality of living environment'? What changes do you think
we should make?
The University supports the need to protect the amenity of future residents and the provision of a good standard of living
environment for future occupiers, ensuring high quality accommodation is provided for its students across the City.
The need for all applications to be supported by a full set of floor plans with internal measurements and room specifications (i.e.
double or single bedroom) goes beyond national planning validation requirements. This could overburden an Applicant with the
need for detailed architectural plans for all proposals which are not typically readily available for existing housing stock.
An appropriate balance needs to be struck when validating Applications. In our view, provided the layout plan can demonstrate
how space standards can be met this is entirely sufficient for both validation and determination.

Q13 Do you agree with the section on 'Bedroom space standards'? What changes should we make?
Paragraph 1.17 of the Consultation SPD acknowledges that the National Described Space Standards relate to new dwellings,
however the Council nevertheless still require bedrooms in HMO proposals to comply with these standards for bedroom
accommodation at paragraphs 1.19 and 1.20.
The Housing Act (2004) and statutory guidance sets the minimum suitable bedroom size as
10 sq.m for a double bedroom for two persons and 6.5 sq.m or above as suitable for a single bedroom for 1person. These
standards are used in adopted HMO standards nationally and should also be applied by Portsmouth City Council as more
appropriate for assessing applications for existing housing stock to become HMOs. No justification has been provided for the
slightly higher minimum room size proposed in the consultation
document. If these were applied, the SPD would also accord with the Council's Housing Standards document 'Standards for
Houses of Multiple Occupation' (May 2014), which we assume is the source of the amenity space standards detailed at page 9 of
the document, however this should be clarified in the final revised document.

Page 4
Q14 Do you agree with the section on 'Amenity of neighbours and local occupiers'? What changes do you think
we should make?
The University have no comments on the amendments made to paragraphs 1.23 -1.34 of the SPD as they strive to provide the
highest standards of accommodation to ensure properties are not overly intensified. To further respect the amenity of neighbours
and local occupiers the University's Student and Neighbour Liaison Service runs initiatives to ensure Students are good
neighbours and responsible citizens whilst studying in the City.

Page 24

372 / 381

Houses in Multiple Occupation Consultation
Q15 Do you agree with the section on 'Other Issues to consider'? What changes do you think we should make?
We have no comments to make in relation to paragraph 1.35 of the Revised SPD, as this relates to HMO Licenses and civil
penalties which are covered by separate legislation detailed in the Housing and Planning Act (2016) which are beyond the
scope of the Planning system.

Page 25

373 / 381

Houses in Multiple Occupation Consultation
Q16 Are there any other changes you would like to see the final amendments?
At this time, we have no further comments to make on this Consultation Document, however we reserve the right to comment
again during possible future rounds of consultation in relation to revisions to the SPD.
----------------The University of Portsmouth welcomes the opportunity to comment on the proposed revisions to the Houses in Multiple
Occupation (HMOs) SPD (September 2017).
The University's Position
The University has a significant economic, social and environmental footprint in the City, Region and beyond. This includes a
population of more than 25,000 students and 2,500 full-time equivalent staff. The population includes more than 5,000 international
and EU students from almost 150 different countries.
The supply of appropriate accommodation is an important element of the University and indeed City's ability to accommodate
students. The quality and location of accommodation also has a direct influence on our student's experience and contribution.
HMOs form an important and vital role in the City's housing stock for students and allow them to choose from a diverse and
affordable range of accommodation. This is an important aspect of the local housing market for students who choose not to live
in managed student accommodation.
The provision of appropriately located and designed accommodation can ensure that students have a positive economic and
social impact on the City together with the reputation and attraction of both the Universit y and City. The University strives to
guide property owners and developers on the location and standard of their proposed accommodation to meet our in-depth
understanding of our students' requirements. This includes HMOs. Such an approach is ent irely in accordance with the objectives
of Portsmouth Plan Policies PCS19 and 20 (including paragraph 5.29).
Policy Justification for an updated SPD
According to the NPPF and PPG, SPDs should only be used where clearly justified and build upon and provide more detailed
advice or guidance on the policies in the Local Plan.
In the case of this SPD, it relates to Policy PCS20 'Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs}: Ensuring Mixed and Balanced
Community' of the Portsmouth Plan (adopted September
2012) and the original SPD was adopted shortly after the Local Plan in October 2012. SPDs should be used where they can
help Applicants make successful planning applications and not add unnecessarily to the financial burdens on development
(paragraph 153).
The University welcomes the principle of the SPD and how the City Council has recognised the importance of keeping it up-todate. The City is encouraged to review all other SPDs to ensure they remain up-to-date and justified whilst the Local Plan
Review is being prepared.
Conclusion & Next Steps

We hope this letter provides a clear overview of our concerns regarding new HMO accommodation in the City. We consider
greater clarification on the proposed bedroom and amenity space standards is justified to address the issues we have identified
and to ensure the document is consistent with the Council's 'Standards for Houses of Multiple Occupation' (May 2014). We would
welcome a meeting with you to explore the issues raised in this letter further and to agree a way forward.

Page 26

374 / 381

East St Thomas Residents Forum
Response to Consultation “Houses in multiple occupation -SPD amendments”
20 August – 31 October 2017

Local context
The members of East St Thomas Residents Forum (ESTRF) warmly welcome revisions to
“Supplementary Planning Document 20 (SPD20) - Houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) Ensuring
mixed and balanced communities”, originally published in October 2012.
Prior to 2012, there was no planning control over the conversion of family homes to HMOs for up to
6 people. The proximity of the East St Thomas Area to the University (particularly the streets known
locally as comprising “the ladder”), coupled with the availability of modest, reasonably-priced
properties, proved a magnet for developers, who driven by lucrative investment returns, converted
significant numbers of properties in the area to HMOs between the turn of the millennium and
2012.
This original uncontrolled development has produced a massively unbalanced community in the East
St Thomas area, with up to approximately 70% of the housing stock in some roads being converted
to HMOs, as illustrated by the table below:

The original SPD20 issued in 2012 implemented some welcomed measures to reduce further
conversion of family homes into HMOs, notably requiring all new HMOs for up to 6 people to require
C4 planning permission and the implementation of a 10% density threshold.
In 2016, developers identified a loophole in the original SPD20 drafting and in order to circumvent
the cap on HMO density, they brought forward countless “sui generis” applications to enlarge
existing small HMOs (in many cases gutting the properties and enlarging them with additional floors,
loft extensions and basements – see example in Appendix A) to increase their intensity of use. As a
result of this loophole, what were originally “tight-packed” modest family homes can currently, in
planning law, be legitimately converted into 9+ bedroomed mini halls of residence.
The historic increase in HMO density followed by the more recent increases in HMO intensity has
resulted in a community which, by definition, is the epitome of unbalanced and unsustainable. The
extreme concentration of HMOs in East St. Thomas has pushed the community to breaking point in

Page 27

terms of amenity (noise, litter, antisocial behaviour) and placed an unsustainable strain on local
services (waste collection/rubbish (see Appendix B), water etc.).
To be clear, members of ESTRF are not anti-HMO or anti-student – it’s just that we know from our
own personal experience, there needs to be a further level of control to prevent the continuous
over- densification and over-intensification of HMOs by developers in any one area.
As such, ESTRF is highly supportive of the proposal to update SPD20. Many of the principles in the
draft under consultation will curtail further unsustainable HMO development in the area, but there
are some additional concepts that we would like to see included which we feel could be introduced
to support our community.

Specific Points on the current draft revisions


Amenity Space Standards (1.16 – 1.21)

We want to ensure that where HMO development is approved, that the site is not overdeveloped
and the best possible facilities provided for their residents. In particular we would like to ensure
there is no relaxation of space standards such that developers can increase the intensity of use of a
property through smaller rooms, removal of communal spaces and/or reduction of facilities. We
welcome the inclusion of more detail (included in the table in 1.21) taken from the Private Sector
Licensing space standards. We also welcome confirmation in the draft revised SPD of the single
occupancy room space requirement of 7.5m2 (with a minimum width of 2.15m) in section 1.18 and
double occupancy space requirement of 11.5m2(and is at least 2.75m wide) in section 1.19.
As many sui generis applications involve simply converting the living room of a property into an
additional bedroom, we would like the draft to include confirmation of the principles stated in PCC’s
Private Sector Housing ‘Standards for Houses in Multiple Occupancy (2014)’ on the need for
enhanced bedroom space where communal areas are removed, and suggest the following modified
text from that document is included in the SPD
“Where properties do not have separate communal space that is not a kitchen-diner-living
area, the minimum floor area of all single occupancy bedrooms must be 10 sq. metres.
PCC’s Housing Standards document “Standards for Houses in Multiple Occupancy (2014)”
provides details of the facilities that must be provided in HMOs, including bathroom and
kitchen facilities, based on the number of occupants. The drawings and documentation
accompanying HMO planning applications must demonstrate that these requirements will be
met.”


Amenity of neighbours and local occupiers (1.22)

We were extremely pleased with the proposal to include the principles that C4 planning applications
would be refused where there was a negative impact on neighbours and local occupiers, and where
the proposal resulted in an over-intensive use of the property. We would however like to be sure
that this principle equally applies to sui generis applications and that the wording prevents any
further loopholes emerging. A revised text for 1.22 would therefore be:
“1.22 For the purpose of assessing applications for the change of use to C4 and sui generis
HMOs, planning permission will only be granted where the proposal would not result in an
over intensive use of the property or the neighbouring area.”

Page 28



Identifying properties in HMO use (Section 1.23)

We are pleased that when the calculation of HMO density is made in respect to HMO planning
applications, that all properties with C4, C3/C4 and sui generis HMO planning permission will be
included in the count, irrelevant as to whether they are in HMO use at the time of the
application. However we would also like “section 257” HMOs included to ensure clarity and
robustness as they are, to all intents and purposes, HMOs by another name and impact equally on
the HMO load on a neighbourhood. We therefore suggest the following wording to provide clarity:
“1.24 When identifying the number of HMOs in the area surrounding the application
property, the city council will include:


All properties continuously in HMO use since 1 November 2011
All properties with Class C4 HMO planning permission
All properties with sui generis HMO planning permission
All properties with planning permission for mixed C3/C4 use (regardless of whether
they are in C3 or C4 use at the time of the application).
All Section 257 Houses in Multiple Occupation properties”

Establishing the existing lawful use of a property (1.27)

With reference to “grandfathered” HMOs, we would like more robust language included in section
1.27 of the draft SPD to indicate that the evidence of HMO use since November 2011 must be
complete, credible and continuous and we suggest the following amendments to the wording of
section 1.27:
“Those wishing to confirm the existing lawful use of a property should not rely on the
database as evidence but should seek to establish whether planning permission for HMO use
has been granted or, where appropriate, to secure unambiguous evidence that the property
was in continuous Class C4 use prior to the 1st November 2011 when the Article 4 Direction
came into force (see paragraph 1.6 above). An application could also be made to the city
council for a Certificate of Lawful Use. A fee is required for making this type of application
together with supporting evidence to support the application.”

Page 29

Additional concepts for inclusion


Sandwiching and “Three in a row” (addition to 1.22)

We would also like restrictions included with regard to the concepts of “sandwiching” and “3 in a
row” HMOs. These principles have been established by a number of local councils to prevent overintensive HMO development and similar restrictions have already been included into many SPDs
since 2014 including Southampton*and Lincoln**. We would therefore like to see them included in
PCC’s planning guidance and, given that precedents have already been set by many other local
authorities, we believe that the following text should be added in section 1.22:
“ii. HMO planning permission will not be granted where it would result in any residential
property (C3 use) being ‘sandwiched’ between two HMOs or where it would result in three
adjacent HMOs, unless the application property is located between two existing HMOs **”.
*https:/www.southampton.gov.uk/policies/Final-HMO-SPD_tcm63-383554.pdf
**https:/www.lincoln.gov.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alId=49856



Process Efficiency– Planning and Licensing (1.34)

The dual requirement to apply for planning permission and to apply for, and obtain, a licence before
a new HMO can be occupied, is currently confused and lacks clarity. Both the Council’s and
landlords’ resources are wasted when licence applications are processed and approved before
planning permission is sought and subsequently rejected.
We would therefore like the following amendments to be implemented:
“In addition to the need for planning permission, those wishing to establish an HMO
need to obtain a HMO licence in accordance with the Housing Act (2004).
An HMO licence will not be granted until planning permission for the HMO / sui generis
development has been granted by Portsmouth City Planning Department.
Landlords are also encouraged to join the city council’s Landlord Accreditation Scheme
(LAS)”.



Rebalancing Communities

The draft SPD refers to the Portsmouth Plan’s projection of an increase in the number of people who
will require larger, family sized properties in the future (Section 1.9) and PCC’s stated aim ‘to avoid
high concentrations of HMOs in the city, and to ensure the future provision of mixed and balanced
communities’ (Section 1.10).
With the East St Thomas area already several times above the HMO threshold recognised as being
sustainable, we feel that some mechanisms (within or outside the revised SPD20) to encourage
rebalancing of the local community are essential.
We understand that Portsmouth City Council is the only UK council that permits dual C3/C4 planning
applications for properties. The revised SPD drafting indicated that at the 10 year anniversary of the
C3/C4 planning approval, the property’s status would revert to either C3 or C4, depending on its use
at that time.

Page 30

The issue with this is that it effectively provides maximum flexibility for landlords but no protection
for tenants, allowing landlords to “flip” their properties between C3 and C4 use at will, and most
crucially at the 10 year anniversary of their planning application, allowing them to preserve their
potentially more lucrative C4 status. This means that if market conditions had encouraged the
landlord to use the property as a family home in year 9, the current system would financially
encourage them to evict the family tenants and return the property to HMO use in year 10.
We would like PCC to return to the standard national framework of assigning planning approval for
either C3 or C4 rather than dual C3/C4 use. This would then eliminate the current practise which
acts as a barrier preventing the return of housing stock back towards family use.

Conclusion
ESTRF is very supportive of the update of the SPD20 to close loopholes in the original drafting,
tighten language where there is ambiguity and provide clarity for Developers, Residents, Councillors
and Council officials. In addition, the revisions should also help raise the bar and encourage high
quality HMO development whilst helping maintain the now scarce family housing stock in the area.
Given the experience of developers identifying the “super HMO loophole” in the current SPD and
using this to circumvent the spirit and intent of the original policy, we would urge PCC to ensure that
the drafting of the final document is robust, delivering a revised SPD which is resistant to
exploitation.
In addition to the amendments proposed, we would like to see some additional changes to provide
protection against “Sandwiching” and “Three in a Row” developments, and to eliminate licensing
applications being unnecessarily reviewed and approved before planning permission has been
granted.
Finally, given the extreme imbalance of HMO properties in East St Thomas, we desperately need
some policy measures to support changes in the market demand for rented accommodation and
“nudge” housing stock in the East St Thomas area away from HMO use and back towards family
homes.

Martin Willoughby
On behalf of the over 120 members of East St Thomas Residents Forum.

Page 31

Appendix A – Examples of building overdevelopment

Page 32

Appendix B – Photographs of Montgomerie and Margate Road (August 2017)

Page 33

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 35

Page 36

Page 37

Page 38

Page 39

Page 40

Page 41

Page 42

Page 43

Page 44

Page 45

Page 46

Page 47

Page 48

Page 49

Page 50

Page 51

Page 52

Page 53

Page 54

Page 55

Page 56

Page 57

Page 58

Page 59

Page 60

Agenda Item 4
THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY
(Please note that "Information Only" reports do not
require Equality Impact Assessments, Legal or
Finance Comments as no decision is being taken)

Title of meeting:

The Leader with responsibility for Planning,
Regeneration and Economic Development

Subject:

Portsmouth International Port:
Members duties as the Duty Holders for the Port under
the Updated Port Marine Safety Code,
Port Marine Safety Code Audit, Harbour Incidents, and
Traffic Throughput

Date of meeting:

21 November 2017

Report by:

Port Director

Wards affected:

All

1.

Requested by

1.1

The Leader with Responsibility for PRED.

2.

Purpose

2.1

To provide information about:





Members duties as the Duty Holders for the Port under the updated Port
Marine Safety Code;
The Port Marine Safety Code Audit at Portsmouth International Port;
Incidents in the Harbour; and
Traffic throughput.

3.

Members duties as the Duty Holders for the Port under the Updated Port
Marine Safety Code

3.1

Introduction

3.1.1 The Port Marine safety Code and its Associated Guide to Good Practice have been
updated and republished by the Department for Transport. Copies of the updated
documents are available for download at the DfT web site:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/port-marine-safety-code

1 61
Page

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY
(Please note that "Information Only" reports do not
require Equality Impact Assessments, Legal or
Finance Comments as no decision is being taken)
3.1.2 Members as the Duty Holders for the port should be aware of the updated
documents and familiarise themselves with the contents of the Port Marine Safety
Code so as to enable themselves to make an informed decision as to the level of
compliance required.
3.1.3 There is an Executive summary on page 6 to page 8 of the Code which will guide
the Duty Holders of their responsibilities under the Code. The Executive Summary
has been set out below for ease of reference.
3.1.4 The Port Director can confirm that through external annual independent audits by
Marico Marine and Risk Consultants Ltd that “Portsmouth International Port
continues to comply satisfactory with the requirements of the Port Marine Safety
Code”.
3.2

What is the Port Marine Safety Code?

3.2.1 The Port Marine Safety Code (“the Code”) sets out a national standard for every
aspect of port marine safety. Its aim is to enhance safety for everyone who uses or
works in the UK port marine environment. It is endorsed by the UK Government, the
devolved administrations and representatives from across the maritime sector and,
while the Code is not mandatory, these bodies have a strong expectation that all
harbour authorities will comply. The Code is intended to be flexible enough that any
size or type of harbour or marine facility will be able to apply its principles in a way
that is appropriate and proportionate to local requirements.
3.3

Who is the Code for?

3.3.1 The Code is applicable both to statutory harbour authorities and to other marine
facilities which may not have statutory powers and duties. These are collectively
referred to throughout the Code as ‘organisations’ and may include, but are not limited
to, the following:






Competent Harbour Authorities (authorities with statutory pilotage duties);
Municipal Port or Harbour Authorities;
Trust Port or Harbour Authorities;
Private Port or Harbour Authorities; and
Marine berths, terminals or jetties.

3.3.2 It is strongly recommended that organisations or facilities which are not a statutory
harbour authority, such as marine berths and terminals, seek a proportionate
compliance with this Code through the adoption of a formal risk assessment process
and the implementation of a marine safety management system (MSMS) which
complies with this Code or any alternative similar standard applicable to their sector.
3.3.3 Where a marine terminal or jetty is situated within the jurisdiction of a Statutory
Harbour Area (SHA), it is important for both parties to engage with one another to
ascertain the scope and extent of the SHA’s MSMS and whether it incorporates any
of the terminal’s or jetty’s marine operations. This engagement will help to define

Page2 62
www.portsmouth.gov.uk

THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY
(Please note that "Information Only" reports do not
require Equality Impact Assessments, Legal or
Finance Comments as no decision is being taken)
whether it is necessary for the terminal or jetty to develop their own MSMS. If it is
decided that an additional system is required then the above engagement should
focus on ensuring that the MSMS complement each another and avoid any
duplication of effort.
3.3.4 Not all the requirements of the Code are relevant to all authorities or organisations.
Some have no compulsory pilotage and a review (risk assessment) would confirm if
there was a need to provide such a service. Others have no commercial activity –
they handle no commercial vessels and do not possess any of the berthing and/or
dock facilities that go with them. Their professional staff may require particular skills
for the local circumstances but those associated with a commercial port might not be
among them. However, those members of staff may well support and encourage
leisure activities within the port or facility. Objectives will be framed and need to be
stated accordingly.
3.4

What does the Code cover?

3.4.1 The Code has been developed to improve safety in the port marine environment and
to enable organisations to manage their marine operations to nationally agreed
standards. It provides a measure by which organisations can be accountable for
discharging their statutory powers and duties to run harbours or facilities safely and
effectively. It also provides a standard against which the policies, procedures and
performance of organisations can be measured. The Code describes the role of board
members, officers and key personnel in relation to safety of navigation and
summarises the main statutory duties and powers of harbour authorities. The Code
is designed to reduce the risk of incidents occurring within the port marine
environment and to clarify the responsibilities of organisations within its scope.
3.4.2 The Code should be read in conjunction with its companion Guide to Good Practice
on Port Marine Operations (”the Guide”). The Guide underpins the ethos of the Code
by providing additional guidance and practical examples and has been written and
approved by maritime professionals to assist organisations in promoting and
executing safe, efficient and accountable port marine operations based on industry
best practice.
3.5

Who should read the Code?

3.5.1 The Code is primarily intended for the ‘‘duty holder’’ which will, for most organisations,
mean those members of the organisation, both individually and collectively, who are
ultimately accountable for marine safety. All duty holders should therefore familiarise
themselves with the Code and review any implications for their marine operations.
3.5.2 It is strongly recommended that the duty holder, and all officers involved in marine
safety, also consider the advice on good practice provided in the Guide as well as
reviewing the recommendations and the common lessons learned from major
accidents and incidents which can be found on the Marine Accident Investigation
Branch website.

3 63
Page

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY
(Please note that "Information Only" reports do not
require Equality Impact Assessments, Legal or
Finance Comments as no decision is being taken)
3.6

What do I need to do?

3.6.1 The Code refers to some of the existing legal duties and powers that affect
organisations in relation to marine safety but it does not in itself create any new legal
duties. However, although they are not mandatory, there are nevertheless several
measures which are key to the successful implementation of the Code. Therefore, in
order to comply with the Code, statutory harbour authorities must consider the
following 10 measures. Other organisations are advised to identify which of the items
may be applicable to their port marine activities. It is recommended that, at the very
minimum, items 4, 5 and 6 below should be considered by all organisations.
1. Duty holder:
Formally identify and designate the duty holder, whose members are individually and
collectively accountable for compliance with the Code, and their performance in
ensuring safe marine operations in the harbour and its approaches.
2. Designated Person:
A ‘designated person’ must be appointed to provide independent assurance about
the operation of the marine safety management system. The designated person must
have direct access to the duty holder.
3. Legislation:
The duty holder must review and be aware of their existing powers based on local
and national legislation, seeking additional powers if required in order to promote safe
navigation.
4. Duties and Powers:
Comply with the duties and powers under existing legislation, as appropriate.
5. Risk Assessment:
Ensure that marine risks are formally assessed and are eliminated or reduced to the
lowest possible level, so far as is reasonably practicable, in accordance with good
practice.
6. Marine Safety Management System:
Operate an effective MSMS which has been developed after consultation, is based
on formal risk assessment and refers to an appropriate approach to incident
investigation.
7. Review and Audit:
Monitor, review and audit the risk assessment and MSMS on a regular basis – the
independent designated person has a key role in providing assurance for the duty
holder.
8. Competence:
Use competent people (who are trained, qualified and experienced) in positions of
responsibility for managing marine and navigation safety.

Page4 64
www.portsmouth.gov.uk

THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY
(Please note that "Information Only" reports do not
require Equality Impact Assessments, Legal or
Finance Comments as no decision is being taken)
9. Plan:
Publish a safety plan showing how the standards in the Code will be met and produce
a report assessing performance against that plan at least every 3 years.
10. Aids to Navigation:
Comply with directions from the General Lighthouse Authorities and supply
information & returns as required.

4.

Port Marine Safety Code Audit 2017

4.1

Portsmouth International Port appointed Marine and Risk Consultants Ltd (Marico
Marine) to conduct an annual Port Marine Safety Code audit and, in addition, to
review the progress on the implementation of the findings of previous audits carried
out by Marico Marine.The audit was carried out by Ray Blair on 5th April 2017
following a desk-based review of previously held documentation, including the
previous audit reports.

4.2

During the review of the previous audits, carried out in January 2014, February
2015 and March 2016, it was duly noted that the majority of the recommendations
and observations have now been carried out, including:









4.3

The Marine Safety Management Plan is in place;
The Navigation Risk Assessment has been considerably updated;
The structure and presentation of the web-based Marine Safety Management
System have been much improved and further development is ongoing;
An incident / accident investigation procedure and flow chart have been
developed, have been added to the Marine Safety Management System and
have been implemented;
Port legislation has been fully reviewed and is considered to be fit for purpose;
The Marine Safety Management System has been updated to include reference
to the authority's powers to raise, remove, destroy and mark a wreck which is, or
is likely to become, a danger to navigation;
The Towage Guidelines have been updated to include reference to towing in
restricted visibility; and
Marine staff job descriptions and training profiles are now in the same location in
the Marine Safety Management System.

The following observations from the 2016 Port Marine Safety Code Audit have been
considered and, where appropriate, progressed but have yet to be fully
implemented:


In the absence of proactively monitoring the performance of Pilot Exempt
Certificate (PEC) holders the CHA should consider encouraging the ferry
company PEC holders to participate in future pilot training programmes,
promoting shared good practice and team-working; and

5 65
Page

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY
(Please note that "Information Only" reports do not
require Equality Impact Assessments, Legal or
Finance Comments as no decision is being taken)


The CHA should consider introducing a pilotage revalidation procedure
assessing pilot competence sufficient to satisfy the CHA at intervals not less than
every five years.

4.4

Overall, the audit concluded that considerable progress has been made and
Portsmouth International Port continues to comply satisfactorily with the
requirements of the Port Marine Safety Code.

4.5

Several observations were noted during this review, the most significant being:








The Harbour Master is invited to consider providing a briefing on recent
changes to the Port Marine Safety Code (November 2016 Revision) and GtGP
(February 2017 Revision) to all PCC Councillors via the Members Information
System and to the next Port Advisory Board;
Consider establishing a clearer link from the port’s commercial website to its
Port Marine Safety Code website, which would benefit port users;
Consideration should be given to formulating a ranked hazard list derived
directly from the port’s Navigation Risk Assessment;
It is considered that the proposed 4 element check-trip system for pilots and,
where appropriate PEC holders, should be consulted with stakeholders, agreed
and introduced at the earliest opportunity;
It is considered that all dead tow and non-routine towage applications should be
formally approved, as per GtGP Section 13.3.11; and
Consider noting on specific risk assessments when updates or amendments
have been made following incident investigations.

5.

Incidents in the Harbour

5.1

This report fulfils the Port’s obligation under the Port Marine Safety Code of keeping
the Duty Holders advised of incidents in the Harbour that concern Portsmouth
Commercial Port, which is the Competent Harbour Authority under the Pilotage Act
of 1987.

5.2

The main incidents from 01 January 2017 to 30 September 2017 are summarised
below:
Fire – 19 January 2017
A cross Solent ferry departed Portsmouth 0900hrs, when the vessel passed the
Mother Bank buoy the helmsman noticed flames at the port bridge wing door. The
alarm was raised immediately and the crew started to fight the fire. The Passengers
were mustered at the aft end of the main lounge and Solent Coast Guard were
advised of the situation. The fire was extinguished by the crew by the time the vessel
arrived at Fishbourne. Two fire engines and the police came on arrival and after a
close up inspection the vessel was declared safe to return to Portsmouth in ballast.
At 1149hrs the vessel departed Fishbourne and berthed at the inside of the Hulk
Moorings and the vessel out of service and an incident investigation was commenced.

Page6 66
www.portsmouth.gov.uk

THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY
(Please note that "Information Only" reports do not
require Equality Impact Assessments, Legal or
Finance Comments as no decision is being taken)
The cause of the fire was later established that a cigarette end was thrown into a
smoking bin which had not had its protective metal lining in place, this ignited the bin
which went onto ignite some inflammable liquid in a container stowed below the bin.
Oil Spill – 20 February 2017
During Bunkering operations alongside a commercial quay, heavy oil escaped from
the sounding pipe and spilt onto the deck. The spill was a minor spill (approximately
20 litres) and was contained on the on deck with the exception that a small amount
estimated to be a litre or less escaped overboard. This was recovered by the crew
with their on board oil spill equipment.
Failure to comply with Harbour Control Directions 16 March 2017
A Cross channel ferry left her berth without the permission of Harbour Control
contravening local directions and regulations. The resulting investigation found that
there had been a misunderstanding in communication which the ship accepted was
their fault.
Weighted Heaving Line – 21 March 2017
Two heaving lines with illegally weighed ends where thrown onto the deck of the
assisting tug. The ends were cut off and opened revealing several steel nuts and a
lead mass.
The Captain was written to warning him of the situation and of his contravention of
Local Notice to Mariners No 13/17.
Weighted Heaving Line – 28 April 2017
On berthing a cruise ship, it was found that the ship had used 2 weighted monkey's
fists on their heaving lines in contravention of the code of safe working practices.
They weighted ends were cut off and the Harbour Master went on board the vessel
to discuss the situation with the Master and he was advised of his contravention of
Local Notice to Mariners No 13/17.
Engine Mechanical Failure – 7 June 2017
A cross channel fast cat ferry was berthing onto berth CFP 1 with tug assistance after
it had experienced mechanical failure to one side of the ship’s propulsion system.
During the berthing manoeuvre the vessel’s remaining engines cut out and the vessel
landed heavily on the fenders damaging the ship’s starboard waterjet guard frames.
The vessel went onto berth without further incident.
Oil Spill – 14 June 2017
A cross Solent car ferry was conducting bunkering operation whilst alongside the
Wightlink "Hulk Moorings", the engineer selected the smaller auxiliary fuel tank
instead of the larger main fuel tank. The fuel subsequently over filled the auxiliary fuel
tank and spilled out on the deck of the ferry through an air pipe vent. Although the
fuel was retained on board the ferries’ deck, a small amount of marine gas oil
(estimated to be 20 litres) escaped into the sea where it very quickly dispersed with
the tide. The company has reviewed its bunkering check list and issued a "Safety
Briefing note" to its staff in order to prevent a reoccurrence of an incident of this type.

7 67
Page

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY
(Please note that "Information Only" reports do not
require Equality Impact Assessments, Legal or
Finance Comments as no decision is being taken)
Heavy Contact with the Quay – 11 July 2017
During her berthing manoeuvre at low water, a cross channel fast cat ferry slid along
the high fenders on berth No.1 causing the exposed starboard navigation light fitting
to catch on the top of the high fender. The vessel went on to berth without further
incident.
Tow line parted – 03 August 2017
A container vessel was backing out from her berth on Albert Johnson Quay to make
her turn in the south Tidal Basin and UHAF area. A 40 tonne bollard pull tractor tug
was controlling the bow and an 80 tonne bollard pull Roto tug was pulling the stern
around to the north. A 40 tonne bollard pull ASD tug assisted on the ship’s port
quarter. As the vessel was making her turn to the north, the aft tug’s line parted. No
injuries or damage was caused and the ship finished her turn and completed her
passage out of the harbour without further incident.
Oil Spill – 03 August 2017
A RoRo ferry was transferring incompatible marine gas oil (MGO) from her tanks into
road tankers on the quayside at CFP berth 2. As the road tankers transferred the oil
between each other, the seal and the snap fitting on the road tanker’s discharge hose
connecting the two tankers failed. Approximately 20 litres of MGO was spilt on the
quay before the transfer could be stopped. The drivers cleared up the spill on the
quay but an estimated 2 litres of MGO had escaped into the sea. This oil very quickly
dispersed in the windy conditions.
Tow line parted – 13 September 2017
A cross Solent ferry was being “cold” towed into the harbour to facilitate repairs to her
damaged engines. A conventional 28 tonne bollard pull tug was made fast to the bow
of the ferry, with a 15 tonne bollard pull multi cat made fast aft to control the stern.
Once inside and clear of the harbour entrance the tugs turned the ferry through 180
degrees in order to berth the ferry on the inside berth of the Wightlink mooring
pontoon berths. As the multi cat tug pulled harder to correct the effect of the tide and
wind on the vessel. The tug’s line parted and the second line on the towing bridle,
which was not correctly made fast, pulled through the tug’s bitts thus releasing the
tug from the tow. The wind and tide took hold and caused the ferry to drift towards a
vessel moored on Gunwharf Quays. The remaining tug tried to pull the ferry away
from the moored vessel but it struck a glancing blow to the moored vessel causing
minor damage to its aluminium hull. The remaining tug managed to berth the ferry
alongside its berth with the assistance of the ferries remaining functional engine which
it had started by this time.
Engine Mechanical Failure – 23 September 2017
A reefer vessel had stopped to pick up her pilot at the Nab Tower. The pilot made his
way to the bridge and asked for an ahead movement on the ships engines. The
Captain explained that due to technical reasons the engine could not be started. The
pilot advised Harbour Control who dispatched the 80 tonne bollard pull tug from
Portsmouth. The ship was declared “Not under Command” and prepared to anchor.
Ten minutes passed and the engine could still not be started and the vessel was
drifting towards the Nab Tower. The Captain and Pilot decided to anchor the ship to
arrest the drift. After a further 30 minutes the engine could be restarted and the ship
Page8 68

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY
(Please note that "Information Only" reports do not
require Equality Impact Assessments, Legal or
Finance Comments as no decision is being taken)
weighed anchor and proceeded inwards to Portsmouth. The tugs met the vessel and
made fast in the Bar Channel. The vessel went onto berth without further incident.
The problem was caused by the main engine governor actuator limit switch
malfunctioning. This was repaired before the ship sailed.
Close Quarter Situation – 25 September 2017
An outbound tanker from Fawley had a Southampton Pilot on board. A cross channel
ferry was outbound from Portsmouth. As the ferry was passing the Nab East buoy
she maintained a safe distance of 0.7 mile behind the tanker and matched the
tanker’s speed. As the ferry was midway between the Nab End Buoy and the New
Grounds buoy, the tanker started to reduce speed and turn to the south to drop off
her pilot. The distance between the two vessels at this point remained 0.7 miles. As
the ferry passed to the east of the New Grounds buoy the tanker continued to turn to
starboard towards the path of the ferry. Both ships ended up on parallel course and
ferry passed the tanker at about 0.1 miles before continuing on her passage.
The total number of reported incidents from 01 January 2017 to 30 September 2017
was 13.

9 69
Page

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY
(Please note that "Information Only" reports do not
require Equality Impact Assessments, Legal or
Finance Comments as no decision is being taken)

Page 70
10

THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY
(Please note that "Information Only" reports do not
require Equality Impact Assessments, Legal or
Finance Comments as no decision is being taken)

6.

Traffic Throughput

6.1

For the 12 months ending 31 March 2017, compared to the 12 months ending 2016,
passenger numbers were up 0.14%, passenger vehicle numbers were up 2.74%,
freight was down 3.44% and the number of ships using the port was up 4.29%.

6.2

The Port saw an increase in throughput for the 3 months ending 30 June 2017.
Compared to the 3 months ending 30 June 2016, passenger numbers were up
3.57%, passenger vehicle numbers were up 2.80%, freight was up 7.88% and the
number of ships using the port was up 13.77%.

6.3

The Port saw a mixed position in throughput for the 6 months ending 30 September
2017. Compared to the 6 months ending 30 September 2017, passenger numbers
were down 1.45%, passenger vehicle numbers were down 2.03%, freight was up
4.13% and the number of ships using the port was up 7.42%.

………………………………………………
Signed by (Director)

Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972
The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a
material extent by the author in preparing this report:
Title of document

Location

11 71
Page

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY
(Please note that "Information Only" reports do not
require Equality Impact Assessments, Legal or
Finance Comments as no decision is being taken)

Title of meeting:

Leader with responsibilities for Planning, Regeneration
and Economic Development

Subject:

MMD (Shipping Services) Ltd and Portsmouth
International Port Trading Results and Capital Outturn
Report 2016/17

Date of meeting:

21 November 2017

Report by:

Port Director

Wards affected:

All

1.

Requested by

1.1

Director of Finance and Information Service & Section 151 Officer.

2.

Purpose

2.1

To highlight the salient points for both the trading results of MMD (Shipping
Services) Ltd and Portsmouth International Port for the year ending 31 March 2017,
and their capital programmes.

3.

Revenue Position Summary

3.1

MMD’s trading results for 2015/16 and 2016/17 are summarised in Table 1:

1 73
Page

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY
(Please note that "Information Only" reports do not
require Equality Impact Assessments, Legal or
Finance Comments as no decision is being taken)
Table 1: MMD (Shipping Services) Ltd Trading Results 2015/16 & 2016/17

2015/16

Turnover
Cost of Sales
Gross Profit
Administrative Expenses
Other Operating Income
Operating (Profit)
Interest
Net (Profit) on Ordinary
Activities Before Tax
Taxation
Net (Profit) for the Year

2016/17

Variance

£000
(14,735)
10,005
(4,730)
6,415
(1,934)
(249)
207

£000
(15,512)
8,686
(6,826)
6,639
(241)
(428)
215

£000
(777)
(1,319)
(2,096)
224
1,693
(179)
8

(42)
0
(42)

(213)
0
(213)

(171)
(171)

3.2

The 2016/17 results were a profit of £0.2m which doesn’t include a revenue grant
from Portsmouth City Council. This compares to a revenue grant received from
Portsmouth City Council of £1.5m in 2015/16.

3.3

The Port’s trading results for 2015/16 and 2016/17 are summarised in Table 2
below:
Table 2: Portsmouth International Port Trading Results 2015/16 & 2016/17

2015/16

Turnover
Expenditure
Trading Surplus
Capital Charges
Insurances
IAS 19
Support Service Charges
Employee Benefit Accrual
Interest
Net (Profit) for the Year

£000
(14,137)
8,082
(6,055)
3,450
229
513
395
27
(2)
(1,443)

2016/17
£000
(14,892)
8,136
(6,756)
2,504
197
468
376
19
30
(3,162)

Variance
£000
(755)
54
(701)
(946)
(32)
(45)
(19)
(8)
32
(1,719)

Page2 74
www.portsmouth.gov.uk

THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY
(Please note that "Information Only" reports do not
require Equality Impact Assessments, Legal or
Finance Comments as no decision is being taken)
3.4

The combined financial position of MMD and the Port is summarised in Table 3
below:
Table 3: Combined Trading Results 2015/16 and 2016/17

2015/16

Turnover / Other Operating Income
Total Cost
Net (Profit)

£000
(30,806)
29,321
(1,485)

2016/17
£000
(30,645)
27,270
(3,375)

Variance
£000
161
(2,051)
(1,890)

3.5

MMD and the Port produced a combined income of £30.7m and a net profit of
£3.4m in 2016/17. Net profit in 2016/17 was £1.9m higher than in 2015/16.

3.6

Overall, in 2016/17, MMD contributed £1.5m to Portsmouth City Council in amounts
payable to the council including Rent, Rates, Pilotage and Port Dues. This meant
that by retaining MMD the City Council’s overall financial position was £1.7m better
than if MMD ceased to exist.

3.7

The Port’s 2016/17 net profit of £3.2m was £1.7m more than the £1.4m generated
in 2015/16.

3.8

The below sections analyse the financial results in greater detail.

4.

MMD (Shipping Services) Ltd Trading Results

4.1

Stevedoring

4.1.1 Sales in 2016/17 were higher than in 2015/16. The increase was primarily due to a
new Fyffes / Maersk service which increased dues by £0.8m. Sales were also up
because of two additional Moroccan boats per week during the season.
4.1.2 Gross profit stood at 55% in 2016/17, which compares to 53% in 2015/16.
4.1.3 Site Facility costs were lower in 2016/17 mainly due to a rates rebate of £330,000.
4.2

Haulage

4.2.1 MMD terminated its agreement with Gregory Distribution (GDL) on the 31 August
2016 and re-let the haulage concession to NV Transport. NV took over GDL’s
transport activities including existing staff. The new distribution service allows MMD
to develop a solution for a wide range of customers. The basis of the agreement
results in a rental of around £60,000 per annum.

3 75
Page

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY
(Please note that "Information Only" reports do not
require Equality Impact Assessments, Legal or
Finance Comments as no decision is being taken)
5.

Portsmouth International Port Trading Results

5.1

Turnover

5.1.1 Overall the Port’s turnover in 2016/17 was £0.8m higher than in 2015/16. The
increase in income reflects an increase in Operational Dues as a result of a new
operator agreement.

5.2

Expenditure

5.2.1 Expenditure (including capital charges and other corporate costs) in 2016/17 was
£1m lower than in 2015/16.
5.2.2 A key reason for the reduction in expenditure was because of lower capital charges
in 2016/17, reflecting a smaller reduction in the value of the port assets compared
to 2015/16. Repairs and Maintenance costs were £160,000 lower in 2016/17 due to
a different programme of works. Dredging was undertaken in 2016/17 which
increased costs by £190,000.

6.

MMD (Shipping Services) Ltd Capital Position

6.1

During 2016/17 MMD invested £100,000 in container software. The company also
purchased two tug master units and six trailers for £77,000. A Shunt Motor was
obtained for Crane 6 at a cost of £40,000.

6.2

MMD’s forklift fleet leases expired towards the end of 2016. The company plans to
purchase the fleet during 2017/18.

7.

Portsmouth International Port Capital Position

7.1

Capital expenditure in 2016/17 totalled £1.5m. The majority of this spend was
attributable to the demolition of a navigation hazard, which has allowed the port to
accept larger ships. Another significant area of capital expenditure related to the
replacement of a linkspan, the structure that allows vehicles to move on and off
ferries.

Page4 76
www.portsmouth.gov.uk

THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY
(Please note that "Information Only" reports do not
require Equality Impact Assessments, Legal or
Finance Comments as no decision is being taken)

8.

Statistics

8.1

Table 4 below summarises unit due numbers for MMD for 2015/16 and 2016/17.
Table 4: MMD (Shipping Services) Ltd Tonnage Dues

Tonnes

2015/16
Number
873,977

2016/17
Number
906,768

Variance
Variance
Number
%
32,791
3.75

8.2

The table highlights that tonnage dues in 2016/17 were 3.75% higher than in
2015/16.

8.3

Health & Safety continues to be prioritised. Accident days in 2016/17 stood at 275
days compared to 323 days in 2015/16.

8.4

Table 5 below summarises unit due numbers for Portsmouth International Port for
2015/16 and 2016/17.
Table 5: Portsmouth International Port Unit Dues

Passengers
Vehicle Units
Freight Units
Ships

2015/16
Number
2,030,021
672,378
255,366
2,777

2016/17
Number
2,032,908
690,812
246,571
2,896

Variance
Variance
Number
%
2,887
0.14
18,434
2.74
(8,795)
(3.44)
119
4.29

8.5

The table highlights that with the exception of freight units, activity in 2016/17 was
higher than activity in 2015/16.

9.

Forecast 2017/18

9.1

Investment at MMD is ongoing and the company is actively developing new
business opportunities. With the continued change to more containerised traffic in
2018/19 and 2019/20 for AEL and Geest respectively, MMD’s Board consider the
prospects to be positive.

9.2

Portsmouth International Port’s profit is forecast to be higher in 2017/18 compared
to 2016/17, largely due to a new operator agreement. The Port functions as a multiuser port, and actively looks to attract new business.

5 77
Page

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY
(Please note that "Information Only" reports do not
require Equality Impact Assessments, Legal or
Finance Comments as no decision is being taken)

………………………………………………
Signed by (Director)

Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972
The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a
material extent by the author in preparing this report:
Title of document

Location

Page6 78
www.portsmouth.gov.uk

